RECEIVED

Apr 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable B. Alex Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000136

The Cincinnati Specialty Underwriters Insurance Company, Appellant,

v.

Zapp Scooters Inc. d/b/a Zapp Ride Share, Frank Scozzafava, and Michael Holland, Respondents,

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Mark S. Barrow
Brandon R. Gottschall
Madison C. Killen
Sweeny Wingate & Barrow, P.A.
Post Office Box 12129
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 256-2233
Attorneys for Appellants

**TO FIX:
Appellant to Cincinnati;
Respondent to Holland**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- c. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AND DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER WHEN IT FOUND THAT A MOPED IS NOT A "MOTOR VEHICLE"?**

- d. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AND DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER WHEN IT FOUND THAT APPELLANT RECEIVED PROPER NOTICE OF THE UNDERLYING LAWSUIT?**

- e. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AND DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER WHEN IT FOUND THAT CINCINNATI WAS NOT SUBSTANTIALLY PREJUDICED?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Underlying Personal Injury Action

This insurance coverage declaratory judgment action arises out of a personal injury action filed by Respondent Michael Holland (“Holland”) in Richland County, South Carolina, on June 15, 2019. (R. pp. ____; Holland Complaint). Mr. Holland’s state court Complaint (the “Holland Complaint”) alleged causes of action against defendants Zapp Scooters, Inc., and Frank Scozzafava arising out of an alleged accident in which Mr. Holland alleged that a scooter rented from Zapp Scooters, Inc. malfunctioned while Mr. Holland was “traveling down Main Street in Columbia” and threw Mr. Holland over the handlebars, causing injury. (*Id.* at ____). According to the Complaint, “Plaintiff and the cycle slid down a hill and across the pavement until eventually coming to an abrupt stop after colliding with a parked vehicle.” (*Id.* at ____). On April 8, 2019, Holland filed affidavits of service on Zapp Scooters and Frank Scozzafava, stating that on March 29, 2019, Holland served the Summons and Complaint on Frank Scozzafava, individually and as registered agent for Zapp Scooters, Inc. (R. p. ____; ____). On May 10, 2019, Holland filed a Motion for Entry of Default based on Frank Scozzafava and Zapp Scooters, Inc.’s failure to timely file an answer or otherwise respond to the Holland Complaint. (R. p. ____; ____). On May 22, 2019, the Richland County Clerk of Court entered default as to Zapp Scooters, Inc. and Frank Scozzafava. (R. pp. ____; May 22, 2019 Entry of Default).

In September 2019, counsel for Mr. Scozzafava and Zapp Scooters, Inc. filed an appearance and a Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. On December 30, 2019, the Circuit

Court denied the Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. (R. pp. ____; December 30, 2019 Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Set Aside Default).

On April 21, 2021, Holland filed a Motion for Judgment by Default. (R. pp. ____; April 21, 2021 Motion for Judgment by Default). An Order Granting Default Judgment was entered June 15, 2021. (R. p. ____; June 15, 2021 Order Granting Default Judgment). The Order indicated that the Circuit Court conducted a hearing on May 11, 2021, at which counsel for Plaintiff and counsel for Mr. Scozzafava and Zapp Scooters, Inc. were present.

The Order found, among other things, that “Defendant Scozzafava was personally served in Arizona where, upon information and belief, he then resided and to where he had moved the electric scooter business previously operated on the University of South Carolina campus.” (*Id.* at ____). The Order further found that Defendant Scozzafava was “... personally served at that time as the South Carolina registered agent for Defendant Zapp Scooters, Inc.” (*Id.* at ____). However, it found that “Defendants did not answer the Complaint and that by Entry of Default dated May 22, 2019, Defendants were adjudged to be in default.” (*Id.* at ____). It also states that “[b]y Order dated December 30, 2019, Defendants’ Motion to Set Aside Default was denied.” (*Id.* at ____). The Order found that because Mr. Scozzafava and Zapp Scooters, Inc. were in default, “the factual allegations of the Complaint relating to liability are taken as true.” (*Id.* at ____). The Order Granting Default Judgment thereafter awarded \$99,656.40 in past medical expenses, \$75,000.00 in compensation for past and future pain and suffering, \$431,576.00 for loss of enjoyment of life and permanent injury, \$25,000.00 for disfigurement, and \$10,000.00 for inconvenience and disruption of normal daily life. (*Id.* at ____). Altogether, these awards total \$641,232.40. (*Id.* at ____). A judgement for this amount was

entered by the Circuit Court on July 28, 2021 against both Mr. Scozzafava and Zapp Scooters, Inc.

II. Declaratory Judgment Action

Based on the underlying Holland Complaint and lawsuit, but prior to the default judgment in the underlying lawsuit, Appellant Cincinnati Specialty Underwriters Insurance Company (“Cincinnati”) filed this action on November 13, 2019, seeking declarations that a Cincinnati Commercial General Liability insurance policy issued to Zapp Scooters Inv. DBA Zapp Ride Share (the “Policy”) did not provide coverage for the allegations in the underlying Holland Complaint. (R. p. ____; November 13, 2019 Complaint). Cincinnati’s declaratory judgment complaint named as defendants Zapp Scooters Inc. DBA Zapp Ride Share (“Zapp”), Frank Scozzafava (“Scozzafava”), and Michael Holland (“Holland”). (*Id.* at _____).

Cincinnati’s original Declaratory Judgment Complaint sought a declaration from the Court that the Policy’s Absolute Aircraft, Auto or Watercraft exclusion applied such that there was no coverage for the damages sought in the Holland Complaint, which damages allegedly arose out of the ownership, maintenance, use or entrustment to others of an “auto”. (*Id.* at _____). Following the Circuit Court’s entry of default and denial of the motion to set aside default in the underlying case filed by Mr. Holland, Cincinnati filed an Amended Complaint in the present action on October 2, 2020 (“Amended Complaint”). (R. p. ____; October 2, 2020 Amended Complaint). The Amended Complaint adds a second declaratory judgment cause of action seeking a declaration that Zapp and Scozzafava failed to answer the Holland Complaint and failed comply with the Policy’s notice requirements, which substantially prejudiced

Cincinnati, entitling Cincinnati to a declaration that the Policy does not provide liability coverage in relation to the Holland Complaint. (*Id.* at _____).

Zapp and Scozzafava failed to timely answer or otherwise appear in this action, and default was entered against them by Order dated August 5, 2020. (R. p. ____; September 29, 2023 Order Granting Holland’s Motion for Summary Judgment at fn. 1).

On September 9, 2021, Cincinnati filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. ____; Cincinnati Motion for Summary Judgment). On October 21, 2022, Respondent Holland filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. ____; Holland Motion for Summary Judgment). Holland filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of Cross Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment on April 12, 2023. (R. p. ____; Defendant Michael Holland’s Memorandum of Law in Support of Cross Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment). Cincinnati filed a memorandum supporting its Motion for Summary Judgment and in opposition to Michael Holland’s Motion for Summary Judgment on May 17, 2023. (R. p. ____; Memorandum Supporting Cincinnati’s Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Michael Holland’s Motion for Summary Judgment). On May 23, 2023, Holland filed a Response to Cincinnati’s Memorandum. (R. p. ____; Defendant Michael Holland’s Response to Plaintiff’s Supplemental Memorandum Supporting Motion for Summary Judgment).

The Circuit Court conducted hearings on the cross-motions for summary judgment on May 24, 2023.

After the hearings, on September 29, 2023, the Circuit Court entered an Order denying Cincinnati’s Motion for Summary Judgment and granting Holland’s Motion for Summary

Judgment. (R. p. ____; September 29, 2023 Order Denying Cincinnati’s Motion for Summary Judgment and granting Holland’s Motion for Summary Judgment).

Cincinnati filed a Motion to Reconsider on October 9, 2023. (R. p. ____; Motion to Reconsider). The Court denied the Motion to Reconsider in a Form 4 Order on January 2, 2024. (R. p. ____; January 2, 2024 Order Denying Cincinnati’s Motion to Reconsider).

Cincinnati filed a Notice of Appeal on January 31, 2024, appealing both the September 29, 2023 Order Denying Cincinnati’s Motion for Summary Judgment and granting Holland’s Motion for Summary Judgment and the January 2, 2024 Order Denying Cincinnati’s Motion to Reconsider. (R. p. ____; Notice of Appeal).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Where cross motions for summary judgment are filed, the parties concede the issue before us should be decided as a matter of law.” *Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass’n*, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Neumayer v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co.*, 427 S.C. 261, 265, 831 S.E.2d 406, 408 (2019). Thus, “[i]n reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP.” *Companion Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Airborne Exp., Inc.*, 369 S.C. 388, 390, 631 S.E.2d 915, 916 (Ct. App. 2006). Further, “questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Wiegand*, 391 S.C. at 163, 705 S.E.2d at 434.

In addition, where cross motions for summary judgment are filed and the Court of Appeals reverses the grant of summary judgment to respondent, it may further instruct the trial court to enter judgment in favor of the appellant. *See id.* at 166, 705 S.E.2d at 436 (on cross-motions for summary judgment, reversing trial court’s grant of summary judgment to insured, finding that the law

supported the insurer’s position, and instructing trial court to enter judgment “in accordance with this opinion”).

Rule 56(c), SCRCP provides that a trial court may grant a motion for summary judgment only “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCP. Therefore, the proper standard in reviewing a motion for summary judgment is the “genuine issue of material fact” standard, “requiring the party opposing the motion show a ‘reasonable inference’ to be drawn from the evidence.” *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023). “[T]he evidence and the inferences that can be drawn therefrom should be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *McClanahan v. Richland Cnty. Council*, 350 S.C. 433, 438, 567 S.E.2d 240, 242 (2002).

FACTS

Cincinnati filed this declaratory judgment action because Cincinnati’s Policy contains an “Absolute Aircraft, Auto or Watercraft” exclusion and Mr. Holland’s state court complaint alleges damages arising solely out of an accident involving an “auto” in the form of a moped or electric scooter. Further, in addition, seeks a declaration of no coverage because its insured failed to provide notice of Mr. Holland’s lawsuit, failed to answer the lawsuit, and was held in default, ultimately resulting in a default judgment against the insured for \$641,232.40, resulting in severe prejudice to Cincinnati.

Cincinnati requests that this Court (1) reverse the Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment in Holland's favor, (2) reverse the Circuit Court's denial of Cincinnati's Motion to Reconsider, and (3) remand this matter for proceedings consistent with this Court's ruling.

I. The Underlying Suit, Entry of Default, and Judgment

As discussed below, there is relatively little dispute regarding the underlying facts. The underlying case, as indicated by the Holland Complaint, alleges that Mr. Holland was injured on October 12, 2018, when a moped or electric scooter he rented from Zapp malfunctioned, throwing him over the handlebars as he was riding it down Main Street in Columbia. (R. p. ____; (Complaint ¶ 6); (Order Granting Default Judgment ¶ 5)). Frank Scozzafava is the sole shareholder and Chief Executive Officer of Zapp. (R. p. ____; (Underlying Compl. at ¶ 4); (Order Granting Default Judgment ¶ 4)). The Underlying Complaint alleges two causes of action: negligence against Defendant Zapp and piercing the corporate veil against Defendant Scozzafava. (R. p. ____; Ex. B, Underlying Compl. ¶¶ 15-24).

On March 26, 2019, Zapp and Scozzafava were served with the Underlying Complaint and failed to timely answer or otherwise defend. (R. p. ____; Order Granting Default Judgment ¶¶ 6-7). By Entry of Default dated May 22, 2019, Zapp and Frank Scozzafava were adjudged to be in default in the underlying action. (Id. at ¶ 7). At no time prior to this entry of default in the underlying action was Cincinnati informed of the Underlying Complaint. (R. p. ____; Aff. of Sheri Bugher ¶¶ 7-9). Cincinnati was first informed of the October 12, 2018 accident and the Underlying Complaint by Michael Holland's counsel on August 16, 2019. (Id. at ¶ 8).

On September 18, 2019, Zapp and Frank Scozzafava moved to set aside entry of default, but this motion was denied on December 30, 2019. (R. p. ____; Order Denying Defendants' Motion to

Set Aside Default). On April 21, 2021, Holland filed a motion for judgment by default. (R. p. ____; Motion for Judgment by Default).

The Circuit Court entered default judgment against the insured on June 15, 2021, for \$641,232.40. (R. p. ____; Order Granting Default Judgment). The default judgment order finds, among other things:

- That Mr. Holland's injuries occurred "on October 12, 2018, when an electric scooter he rented from Defendants malfunctioned, throwing Plaintiff over the handlebars..." (*Id.* at 2).
- That defendants were served via personal service on Frank Scozzafava individually and as registered agent for Zapp. (*Id.* at 2).
- That defendants did not answer the Complaint and that by Entry of Default dated May 22, 2019, defendants were adjusted to be in default. (*Id.* at 2).
- That defendants' Motion to Set Aside Default was denied by Order dated December 30, 2019. (*Id.* at 2).
- That defendants and their counsel were served with the motion and notice of the damages hearing. (*Id.* at 2).
- That by nature of the defendants' default, the factual allegations of the Complaint relating to liability are taken as true. (*Id.* at 1).
- That Plaintiff is granted a judgment against defendants totaling \$641,232.40.

Following entry of the default judgment order, the Circuit Court entered a judgment against Zapp Scooters, Inc. and Frank Scozzafava on July 28, 2021, which judgment also ended the underlying case. (R. p. ____; July 28, 2021 Judgment).

In short, it is undisputed that Mr. Holland alleges injuries arising out of a moped or motor scooter while he was operating the vehicle on a public road. It is undisputed that the insured was served and did not provide notice to Cincinnati of the Holland Complaint. It is undisputed that Cincinnati had no notice of the lawsuit until after default was entered against the insured. It is

undisputed that Circuit Court denied the insured's Motion to Set Aside Default. It is undisputed that default judgment was entered against the insured as a result. Finally, it is undisputed that Mr. Holland seeks to collect the \$641,232.40 from Cincinnati.

II. The Cincinnati Policy

The issues before this Court concern whether, under the facts of this case, Cincinnati's Policy provides coverage. The Policy at issue is a commercial general liability policy Cincinnati issued to Zapp Scooters, policy number CSU0087939, issued for the period from August 9, 2018 to August 9, 2019. (the "Policy"). (R. p. ____; Policy at 2).

Cincinnati's declaratory judgment action sought declarations from the Circuit Court that the Policy does not provide coverage for two principal reasons. First, Cincinnati asked the Circuit Court to find no coverage under the Policy because the Holland Complaint alleges damages arising out of a moped or motor scooter (i.e. an "auto"), and the Policy contains an absolute auto exclusion. Second, Cincinnati asked the Circuit Court to find no coverage under the Policy because the Policy requires the insured to provide Cincinnati notice of lawsuits, which the insured failed to do, resulting in severe prejudice to Cincinnati after the insured was placed in default and Mr. Holland obtained default judgment against the insured.

As to the issue of the absolute auto exclusion, the Policy's insuring provision is relevant because it indicates that Cincinnati provides coverage only to bodily injury to which the Policy applies. In particular, it provides in relevant part as follows:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

SECTION I – COVERAGES

COVERAGE A. BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY

1. Insuring Agreement

- a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of “bodily injury” or “property damage” to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the insured against any “suit” seeking those damages. However, we will have no duty to defend the insured against any “suit” seeking damages for “bodily injury” or “property damage” to which this insurance does not apply....

(R. p. ____; Policy at p. 18).

There are several types of bodily injury to which the Policy does *not* apply, including bodily injury arising out of an “auto”. Specifically, the Policy’s Absolute Aircraft, Auto or Watercraft Exclusion (referred to herein as the “Absolute Auto Exclusion”) provides in relevant part as follows:

EXCLUSION – ABSOLUTE AIRCRAFT, AUTO OR WATERCRAFT

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

- A. Exclusion **g.** is of Paragraph **2. Exclusions** of **Section I – Coverage A – Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability** is deleted and replaced by the following:

This insurance does not apply to:

g. Aircraft, Auto Or Watercraft

“Bodily injury” or “property damage” arising out of the ownership, maintenance, use or entrustment to others of any aircraft, “auto” or watercraft:

1. Owned or operated by or rented or loaned to any insured; or
2. Owned or operated by or rented or leased to any other person.

Use includes operation and “loading or unloading”.

This exclusion applies even if the claims against any insured allege negligence or other wrongdoing in the supervision, hiring, employment, training or monitoring of others by that insured, if the “occurrence” which caused the “bodily injury” or “property damage” involved any aircraft, “auto” or watercraft.

(R. p. ____; Policy at p. 50).

The term “auto,” including as used in the above exclusion, is a defined term in the policy. Also relevant is the term “mobile equipment” because “mobile equipment” is excluded from the definition of “auto.” The terms “auto” and “mobile equipment” are defined as follows under the Policy:

SECTION V – DEFINITIONS

2. “Auto” means:

- a. a land motor vehicle, trailer or semitrailer designed for travel on public roads, including any attached machinery or equipment; or
- b. Any other land vehicle that is subject to a compulsory or financial responsibility law or other motor vehicle insurance law where it is licensed or principally garaged.

However, “auto” does not include “mobile equipment.”

12. “Mobile equipment” means any of the following types of land vehicles, including any attached machinery or equipment:

- a. Bulldozers, farm machinery, forklifts and other vehicles designed for use principally off public roads;
- b. Vehicles maintained for use solely on or next to premises you own or rent;
- c. Vehicles that travel on crawler treads;
- d. Vehicles, whether self-propelled or not, maintained primarily to provide mobility to permanently mounted:
 - (1) Power cranes, shovels, loaders, diggers or drills; or
 - (2) Road construction or resurfacing equipment such as graders, scrapers or rollers;
- e. Vehicles not described in Paragraph a., b., c. or d. above that are not self-propelled and are maintained primarily to provide mobility to permanently attached equipment of the following types:
 - (1) Air compressors, pumps and generators, including spraying, welding, building cleaning, geophysical exploration, lighting and well servicing

equipment; or

(2) Cherry pickers and similar devices used to raise or lower workers;

f. Vehicles not described in Paragraph a., b., c. or d. above maintained primarily for purposes other than the transportation of persons or cargo.

However, self-propelled vehicles with the following types of permanently attached equipment are not "mobile equipment" but will be considered "autos":

(1) Equipment designed primarily for:

(a) Snow removal;

(b) Road maintenance, but not construction or resurfacing; or

(c) Street cleaning;

(2) Cherry pickers and similar devices mounted on automobile or truck chassis and used to raise or lower workers; and

(3) Air compressors, pumps and generators, including spraying, welding, building cleaning, geophysical exploration, lighting and well servicing equipment.

However, "mobile equipment" does not include any land vehicles that are subject to a compulsory or financial responsibility law or other motor vehicle insurance law where it is licensed or principally garaged. Land vehicles subject to a compulsory or financial responsibility law or other motor vehicle insurance law are considered "autos."

(R. p. ____; Policy at p. 30, 32).

The second set of policy provisions related to this declaratory judgment action are the Policy's notice provisions, which are duties the Policy places on the insured. Here, the Policy includes the following notice provisions:

SECTION IV – COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY CONDITIONS

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