**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable B. Alex Hyman, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2024-000136  
Case No. 2019-CP-40-06380**

---

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 30 2024  
SC Court of Appeals

**The Cincinnati Specialty Underwriters  
Insurance Company,.....Appellant,**

**v.**

**Zapp Scooters Inc. d/b/a Zapp Ride  
Share, Frank Scozzafava, and Michael  
Holland,.....Respondents.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MICHAEL HOLLAND**

---

**Andrew D. Gowdown  
Mary Harriet Moore  
Rosen Hagood, LLC  
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 450  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 577-6726**

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

Appellant further argues that, because Respondent Zapp failed to appear or answer the complaints in this matter, it “is held to have conclusively admitted the factual allegations against it, including that it did not provide timeline [sic] notice and that [Appellant] was prejudiced.” (Appellant’s Initial Br., p.27; R. p. 001096). Appellant essentially contends that these so called “admissions” are binding on Respondent Holland. However, in South Carolina, admissions by one party are not binding on co-parties. *See, e.g., Congaree Riverkeeper, Inc. v. Carolina Water Service, Inc.*, 248 F. Supp. 3d 733, 750 (D.S.C 2017) (“A judicial admission is a ‘representation that is

conclusive in the case’ such as ‘formal concessions in the pleadings, or stipulations by a party or its counsel, that are binding upon the party making them.’”) (citing *Minter v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 762 F.3d 339, 347 (4th Cir. 2014) (internal citations omitted); Section 18:5 *Judicial Admissions of Party-Opponent*, TRIAL HANDBOOK FOR SOUTH CAROLINA LAWYERS (5th ed. Sept. 2022) (“A judicial admission made by one party is not binding upon coparties unless they consent to it or there is privity between them.”) (internal citation omitted).

Just as Owens obtained the insurance policy in *Noisette* through the Bulwinkle Agency, Respondents Zapp and Scozzafava acquired Appellant’s Policy through Livingston. As a result, Livingston was cloaked with the apparent authority to receive notice of claims involving insurance policies sold on behalf of Appellant. Thus, Livingston clearly had notice of the lawsuit on May 14, 2019, and because notice to Livingston constitutes notice to Appellant, Appellant also had notice of Respondent’s lawsuit on May 14, 2019, which was seven days before the Entry of Default on May 22, 2019.

**B. Appellant received actual notice of Respondent Holland’s lawsuit.**

Even if the circuit court erred in finding that Appellant received notice through Livingston, which is expressly denied, the circuit court correctly found that Appellant received actual notice just seven days after the entry of default was entered. The Entry of Default occurred on May 22, 2019. The evidence clearly shows that on May 28, 2019, a Livingston employee named Jackie Lorick, feeling that she had a duty to alert Appellant that Respondent Zapp was being sued, sent an email to Cassandra Wilhelm, a Small Business Underwriter for Appellant, alerting Ms. Wilhelm to the lawsuit and the fact that Livingston had received a subpoena. (R. pp. 001075 – 001082). The following day, May 29, 2019, Ms. Wilhelm responded via email thanking Ms. Lorick for the “heads up,” and providing contact information if the claimant, in this case Respondent Holland, needed

to file a claim. *Id.* Thus, on May 29, 2019, just seven days after the Entry of Default, Appellant had actual notice of Respondent Holland’s lawsuit, giving it an immediate opportunity to move to set aside the default. Instead, it chose to do nothing.

Furthermore, the law does not require that notice of a lawsuit be given in strict conformity with the Policy provisions, especially to the detriment of an innocent third party. *See Factory Mut. Liability Ins. Co. of Am. v. Kennedy*, 256 S.C. 376, 381, 182 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1971) (“The obvious function of the policy provisions, requiring the insured to give notice of the accident and forward suit papers, is to prevent prejudice to the insurer’s right to conduct a reasonable investigation of the accident and adequately defend any action brought against the insured. If such prejudice does not result to the rights of the insurer, no sound reason appears to permit a mere technical noncompliance to deprive an innocent third party of benefits to which he would otherwise be entitled. The requirement that noncompliance must result in prejudice to the rights of the insurer preserves the basic function of the notice conditions and at the same time prohibits a technical application thereof from defeating the public purpose of affording protection to the innocent victim of a motor vehicle accident.”).

At bottom, Appellant received notice of Respondent Holland’s lawsuit through its agent, Livingston Insurance Agency, on May 14, 2019, and again through its employee, Cassandra Wilhelm, on May 29, 2019, giving Appellant two separate opportunities to investigate and act. “Had [Appellant] acted immediately . . . , it could have taken the necessary steps to protect its interests and negate any prejudice it now claims. [Appellant] cannot now allege prejudice for a situation it created by its own doing.” (R. p. 000026).

**C. Appellant was not substantially prejudiced.**

The purpose of the notice provision is to allow time for the investigation of facts and to assist the insurer in preparing a defense. *Washington v. Nat'l Serv. Fire Ins. Co.*, 252 S.C. 635, 168 S.E.2d 90 (S.C. 1969). However, the burden of proof is “upon the insurer to show not only that the insured has failed to perform the terms and conditions invoked upon him by the policy contract but in addition that it was substantially prejudiced thereby.” *Squires v. Nat'l Grange Mut. Ins. Co.*, 247 S.C. 58, 67 145 S.E.2d 673, 677 (S.C. 1965); *Founders Ins. Co.*, 761 Fed. Appx. at 182 (4th Cir. 2019). In fact, “[t]he driving force behind the notice-prejudice rule is that there is ‘no sound reason . . . to permit mere technical noncompliance to deprive an innocent third party of benefits to which he would otherwise be entitled.’” *Neumayer*, 427 S.C. at 272, 831 S.E.2d at 411 (quoting *Factory Mut. Liab. Ins. Co. of Am. v. Kennedy*, 256 S.C. 376, 381, 182 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1971)). “Rather than provide a ‘technical escape-hatch for the insurer to deny coverage, the notice-prejudice rule balances both interests without a wholesale prohibition of these clauses.” *Id.*

Moreover, South Carolina courts have held that substantial prejudice arises as a matter of law only when notice is received after the entry of default judgment, distinguishing between the entry of default and default judgment. *Founders Ins. Co.*, 761 Fed. Appx. at 183 (4th Cir. 2019) (“South Carolina appellate courts have never held the entry of default alone clearly establishes prejudice[.]”). The circuit court correctly relied on several cases to hold that Appellant was not substantially prejudiced. *See, e.g. Berenyi, Inc. v. Landmark Am. Ins. Co.*, No. 2:09-CV-01556-PMD, 2010 WL 233861 at \*7 (D.S.C. 2010) (holding failure to show substantial prejudice where Landmark had sufficient time to investigate and defend the underlying action and “no default judgment ha[d] been entered.”); *Vt. Mutual Insurance Company v. Singleton*, 316 S.C. 5, 12, 446 S.E.2d 417, 422 (1994) (holding there was “absolutely no evidence” that notification “only four

months after the accident” created substantial prejudice to Vermont); *W. Heritage Ins. v. Guiliani*, 38 Fed. App’x 974, 979 (4th Cir. 2002) (holding that 17-month delay in receiving notice did not substantially prejudice Western Heritage).

Appellant has not met its burden in proving that it was substantially prejudiced by Respondent Zapp’s failure to notify Appellant of Respondent Holland’s lawsuit. Appellant contends that it was prejudiced by the entry of default and that it did not have the opportunity to take any action other than to attempt to set aside the default. (Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 29). Specifically, Appellant relies on *Portrait Homes – S.C., LLC v. Pa. Nat’l Mut. Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2023 WL 8610277 (Ct. App. May 2, 2023). That case, however, supports Respondent Holland’s position.

In *Portrait Homes*, Penn National argued that the trial court “improperly failed to conclude Castillo violated the notice and cooperation conditions contained in the policies as a matter of law [and] because Castillo’s violations of those conditions led to entry of default and default judgment, the trial court erred in failing to find it suffered substantial prejudice as a result.” *Id.* at \*16.

However, this Court held:

Here, Castillo did not notify Penn National of the lawsuit. However, in addition to showing Castillo did not provide it with notice, Penn National must also show prejudice because this case involves an innocent third party. Penn National clearly received notice of the suit despite Castillo’s failure to notify it. The trial court did not err in finding Penn National was not substantially prejudiced by Castillo’s failure to notify it of the lawsuit. Because Penn National knew of the lawsuit well before Castillo, it was not prejudiced by Castillo’s failure to forward the paperwork or contact it. Penn National had the opportunity to respond to the suit; it even filed a motion for an extension to file an answer. It did not make any attempt to investigate. Penn National had defended Castillo in similar suits in the past. ***Based on its own knowledge of the suit, Penn National had opportunities, of which it did not take advantage, to at least attempt to protect itself.*** Accordingly, the trial court did not err in finding Penn National was not substantially prejudiced due to lack of notice by Castillo.

*Id.* at \*19 (emphasis added). This Court further noted that “South Carolina appellate courts have never held that entry of default alone clearly establishes prejudice[.]” *Id.* at \*18.

In this case, had Appellant timely investigated the suit upon receipt of notice by its employee, Ms. Wilhelm, it could have taken immediate action to set aside the entry of default that was entered just seven days before as opposed to waiting until September 18, 2019, nearly four months later, to make that motion. Appellant would likely have been in a much stronger position to set aside the entry of default had it acted promptly. Thus, like in *Portrait Homes*, the circuit court correctly ruled that Appellant could not sit on its hands and then claim prejudice when it made no effort to timely act. Any alleged prejudice to Appellant was self-inflicted.

Additionally, the circuit court correctly held that Appellant and its defense counsel had ample time, resources, and opportunity to adequately investigate and defend the claim before an Order of Default Judgment in June 2021, which was over two years after Appellant first learned of the lawsuit. (R. p. 000029). Specifically, Appellant: (1) received all of Respondent Holland's then-available medical records and bills, including the collision report and all correspondence previously sent to Respondents Zapp and Scozzafava; (2) received a demand package from Respondent Holland's counsel which included a demand letter, medical records and bills, photos, a summary of medical expenses, the collision report, and correspondence previously sent to Respondents Zapp and Scozzafava; (3) issued subpoenas to all of Respondent Holland's medical physicians; (4) was provided with Respondent Holland's life care plan; (5) attended the deposition of Dr. Eric Black, Respondent Holland's shoulder surgeon, and cross-examined that witness; and (6) attended the damages hearing and cross-examined Respondent Holland. (R. pp. 001083 – 001086). Generally, when an entry of default has been entered, the defaulting party cannot conduct discovery. *See Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013). However, in this case, Appellant had access to nearly all the discovery it would have been able to obtain had there been no entry of default.

Additionally, Appellant was given the opportunity to settle Respondent Holland's case in good faith prior to default judgment. As mentioned above, Respondent Holland made a settlement demand on Respondent Zapp in October 2019, at the request of Respondent Zapp's defense counsel. (R. p. 000442). At the time, Respondent Holland's medical expenses were nearly \$100,000, and he was left with permanent fixation hardware in his shoulder, permanent impairment, and permanent disfiguration and scarring. (*Id.*). A demand of \$425,000 was made. (*Id.*). In response, Appellant offered \$25,000. Respondent Holland then made a counter demand of \$400,000, only to be told by Respondent Zapp's counsel that he had been given only \$25,000 in authority from Appellant. (*Id.*). Settlement negotiations ended at that point and Appellant made no further attempts to resolve the case prior to judgment being entered against Respondents Zapp and Scozzafava in July 2021. (*Id.*).

Appellant was given more than enough time to investigate and defend Respondent Holland's claim. Appellant was granted extensions to respond, received numerous discovery documents and other information, issued various subpoenas, attended a deposition, participated in settlement negotiations, and fully participated in the damages hearing. The fact that Appellant did not obtain the result that it hoped for through these efforts does not amount to substantial prejudice.

**D. Appellant's actions are inconsistent with a showing of substantial prejudice.**

As further support that Appellant has not been substantially prejudiced, the circuit court noted the timing of Appellant's notice claim. (R. p. 000029). Appellant filed its declaratory judgment action on November 13, 2019. In the original complaint, Appellant did not allege a failure to notify and substantial prejudice claim. It was not until October 2, 2020, eleven months after initially filing the declaratory judgment action, that Appellant asserted it was substantially prejudiced by the failure of Respondents Zapp and Scozzafava to notify.

Failure to raise the claim for nearly a year after it was already in default is inconsistent with an allegation of substantial prejudice. (R. p. 000029). Therefore, Appellant has not met its burden in showing that it was substantially prejudiced. The circuit court's Order granting Summary Judgment to Respondent Holland should be affirmed.

**III. The circuit court's denial of Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment is not immediately appealable.**

Appellant argues that this Court should not only reverse the circuit court's ruling granting Respondent Holland's Motion for Summary Judgment, but also reverse the circuit court's decision and grant Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 30). Generally, orders granting summary judgment may be immediately appealable under either the "invoking the merits" or "substantial right" categories of section 14-3-330(1) and (2)(c). *See Link v. Sch. Dist. of Pickens Cnty.*, 302 S.C. 1, 6, 393 S.E.2d 176, 178-79 (1990). However, an order denying a motion for summary judgment is normally not immediately appealable. *See Bocook Outdoor Media, Inc. v. Summey Outdoor Advertising, Inc.*, 294 S.C. 169, 363 S.E.2d 390 (Ct. App. 1987). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has repeatedly held that the denial of summary judgment is not directly appealable. *See Willis v. Bishop*, 276 S.C. 156, 276 S.E.2d 310 (1981); *Mitchell v. Mitchell*, 276 S.C. 44, 275 S.E.2d 1 (1981); *Neal v. Carolina Power and Light*, 274 S.C. 552, 265 S.E.2d 681 (1980); *U.S. Fid. Guar. Co. v. City of Spartanburg*, 267 S.C. 210, 227 S.E.2d 188 (1976); *Medlin v. W.T. Grant, Inc.*, 262 S.C. 185, 203 S.E.2d 426 (1974); *Greenwich Savings Bank v. Jones*, 261 S.C. 515, 201 S.E.2d 244 (1973); *Geiger v. Carolina Pool Equipment Distributors, Inc.*, 257 S.C. 112, 184 S.E.2d 446 (1971); *see also Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 348 S.E.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1986); *Associates Fin. Services Co. of S.C., Inc. v. Gordon Auto Sales*, 283 S.C. 53, 320 S.E.2d 501 (Ct. App. 1984). This Court has previously addressed this issue in *Fuller v. Blanchard*, holding:

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